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A Note from the Artist---

The mural scenes of the "Beautiful Prai-
rie" of Belle Plaine draw from a history
of people who have passed through this
little piece of the world for a quiet night,
or a special lifetime.

Belle Plaine has always been the half-
way stop between the two major Minne-
sota cities of St. Paul and Mankato---al-
ways a perfect place to "sit a spell."

The community strengths are those
faithful choices of helping ourselves by
helping others first. Change has not al-
ways been popular, but has proven to en-
courage growth. '

lana k. beck

I have selected a time frame between 1870-1917 to depict the buildings and mode of
travel. Perhaps this was the first Belle Plaine boom! Notice the chores that keep people
busy serving others---business and farm, not to mention the social sessions provided in some
of the local establishments. A note from history mentioned Belle Plaine has always consid-
ered water a problem. Perhaps that is the reason for the many saloons!

Notice, as well, the many churches in the community and nearby valleys. Strong and
active in faith and fellowship "Belle Plaineites”" draw from national strengths and tradition
---a melting pot of Irish, German and Swedish decent, as well as a dabble of others. Little
stories and anecdotes heard along the way are tucked in here and there to pass along Belle
Plaine's charm to newcomers.

The people that are viewing us from the mural clouds have not been singled out as much as
selected as representatives of all the "good people of Belle Plaine." Some have passed on
and some are still in our community in soul and human spirit.

All of these mural personages have been given to the artist as having touched not one, but
many lives in Belle Plaine. They have listened to the powers that be to share themselves
with their neighbors, as well as family. Some names were suggested to me because of civic
agendas they selected, or'were active in elected positions. Others were suggested due to the
historical and educational values they shared. Some used their financial talents to serve
others. I think the most special of the faces you see before you are those that were suggested
several times over as to their positive attitude, generous nature and all around "good people."
This, to me, is what makes Belle Plaine a community of love, laughter and pride---"Belle
Plaine was and is a people place!"

Disclaimer

The Belle Plaine Historical Mural (1870-1917) is painted to the best of my knowledge and ability, according to his-
torical records and available historians. Any omissions or misrepresentations are not intentional,

The faces/facial representations in the mural depict only representatives of the thousands of people who have made
the history and future of the City of Belle Plaine, Minnesota, Any omissions are not intentional and are not meant to
offend those included or omitted.

introduction & disclaimer by lana k. beck




BELLE PLAINE HISTORICAL MURAL (circa 1870-1917)
(the following narrative begins at the inner northwest corner of the Pavilion Place building)

Halfway between St. Paul and Mankato, Minnesota, following the Minnesota River and its valley, sits a prairie
town with rolling hills and the "Great Woods" along its northern bank,

In the late 1840's a few French fur traders made their camps home, and set up trading posts along this scenic
river. Louis Robert was one of these historic men who survived bitter cold winters and enjoyed the freshness of a
natural Minnesota. Befriending the Indians found him favor later on in the Sioux Uprising of 1862. :

In 1854, young Andrew Gould Chatfield, a riding judge, passed through this territory in route home from
Mankato to St. Paul. As he came over a hill (today what is referred to as the Devine hill), he envisioned a busy little
town with charm and capabilities of handling transportation amidst farm land. He could see prospects in a people
town---setting up new homesteads and businesses among the wooded, yet fruitful land. Tt was there he wrote to his.
wife Eunice to tell her of his new-found treasure hidden on the "Beautiful Prairie."

The Belle Plaine Company was formed with the Honorable Judge Chatfield, president; William H. Randall, A
treasurer; J. Alexander Pace, secretary; and members McVeigh, Fuller, Rose, Smith, Morton, Albright, King and
Ingersall. Their objective was simply the enlargement and improvement of Belle Plaine, and promotion of the
growth of their young community. A grist or flour mill was started, hotels were built, and a sawmill was put in
operation.

New settlers came almost every day. By late 1858, the country went into an economic depression and the
Belle Plaine Company found itself heavily in debt. At this time Daniel Ingersoll took over all the unsold lots in
Belle Plaine and the Belle Plaine Company dissolved. However, the Belle Plaine community had "roots" in hard-
working, faithful people and a strong desire to see through any struggles.

In February of 1997, lana k. beck was asked by Joan M. Haefner (vice president of Haefner Enterprises and
Pavilion Place shareholder) if she would be interested in painting a historic mural depicting the Borough of Belle
Plaine in the 1800's. The first year, lana spent two days per week in extensive research, pouring over old books and
photos, drawing sketches and interviewing Belle Plaine's senior citizens. What resulted became a mural over 179
feet in length; it covers approximately 1,342.5 square feet of blank wall. The time frame of 1870-1917 was selected
to provide the opportunity to take a look at the young community that was filled with hope and busy with new
business. This time frame was the busiest in the town's history.

The river was very active with large paddle boats and barges arriving
and departing. On a good day it might take 19 hours to travel from St. Paul
to Mankato with a 12-hour return trip. Belle Plaine was one of many sche- =

duled stops; it was a perfect place to come for a day, or stay for a lifetime.

According to an article written by J.E. Townsend, the Belle Plaine Hernld' s founder, his boyhood memories of
the steamboat days in Belle Plaine were as follows:

"Oneof the thrilling sights in the early steamboat days was to see a large packet come in [by boat] with a brass
band playing on the upper deck. This would bring out a large populace of Belle Plaine who would line up along the
levee to wait until the boat left again when, as the boat pulled out, the band would start playing again.

To give an idea of the width of the river here in [his] boyhood days, [he] would say that the river was far from
being bank full when good-sized stern-wheel boats could come up the river with large barges, one on each side, and
still leave plenty of room for other boats to pass. I know that very few boys could throw a stone across the river
without a sling shot.

The barges were brought down from St. Paul empty and were distributed along different-towns to be loaded with
wheat and other sacked grains.

Sacks of wheat were piled up along the river bank on planks, waiting for barges. Upon arrival, about every able-

. bodied laborer in town was employed to load the barges which had to be. loaded in a hurry. "Men worked day and
night carrying. these heavy sacks on their backs down the banks, over gangplanks and into the hold of the barge. At
night the surroundings were lit up with torches to prevent any missteps.

Sacks of grain were sometimes piled up for several days in order to get enough for a barge load. In case of rain
the sacks were covered with tarpaulins. The grain had to [be] watched day and night while on the banks to prevent




hogs from tearing the sacks. Hogs were very plentiful then and all running at large. Many times boys received 50 to
75 cents a day to keep the hogs away. The barges, after being loaded, generally were allowed to drift down the river
with the current.”

The mural paddle boat depicts one of many that may have been captained by Louis Robert, named "The Time
and the Tide." An often-quoted phrase by Captain Robert was the "T & T" waits for no man, and not very long for
a woman!" Our famous Mr. Robert's name was referred to with Robert's Creek and later the Robert Street in
downtown St. Paul.

"How Belle Plaine Got Its Old Bridge'
(article by J.E. Townsend, 1933) )

“It was one of the most exciting elections, the spring of 1879, ever held in Belle Plaine. The busmessmen with
very few exceptions, were in favor of the bond issue; while others owning property but not in-business were, as a rule,
against it on account of increased taxes. There was the large number of non-taxpayers, and it was that group who saved
the day for the bridge advocates.

The bond issue amounted to $20,000 and $5,000 was expected to be realized from public subscription, of which
about $1,500 was subscribed by Sibley and Carver County folks, An unfortunate provision was the inclusion in the
bonds of a ten per cent interest rate and the first bond not coming due for ten years after it was issued. Belle Plaine did
not have a high credit standing in those days, particularly when $20,000 was awfully big money and the assessed
valuation was small. To get the money, the town agreed to the hard terms.

The bonds were purchased by outside parties in $500 and $1,000 lots; but it wasn't many years before it was
learned that all the bonds were bought up by thc Dixon Plow Company of Moline, Illinois, and it certainly proved a
good investment for them.

By the time the bonds were all paid thcy represented with interest, a cost to Bcllc Plaine of about $60,000."

The bridge you see in the mural pivoted in the center to allow boat and barge passage. Later when the river
washed away the south bank, an extension was added to the bridge to provide access. If you- check the river today,
you can still see the old bridge supports.

Following Grove Street, the White Lily Flour Mill was originally owned by John Henry Johnson. He later sold
the mill to Fred Latzke, When Alfred Hillstrom purchased the mill, his miller was Charley Johnson. The Hillstroms
lived in what we refer to as the Hooper-Bowler-Hillstrom house. Mr, Hillstrom enjoyed animals---especially wild
animals. A wild badger once took residence at the mill and eventually became a pet to Alfred; at home a pet racoon
named "Tkey" lived chained to a hollow tree stump, About 60 years ago the mill burned to the ground while it was
owned by Homer Hoelz. At that time it was known as the Hoelz Feed Mill,

The railroad came to Belle Plaine in 1867. Looking west, the scene you
see is that of the railroad---the tracks leading toward the small town of Blakeley
to the west. The Cream of Rye-Cereal Company, the Farmer's Elevators, the

stock pen, and the depot were all in the same area.

Throughout research preparation, photos old and new were collected for ac-
curacy from many city residents. Old firemaps from 1909 & 1914, via "Sonny"
: : Albrecht, were used for geographical placement and size. It was here at the
stock pen that lana came upon her first dilemma of not having a photo! Several weeks had passed and she still had
not painted the stock pen. Leo Albrecht, or "Sonny," as his friends referred to him, finally suggested just painting in
a lean-to-shed with some fences, deeming it's importance minor, After much thought lana took artist's license to
create what she thought a stock pen of the period might have looked. The very next moming Sonny came in with a
disappointed look and said, "oh shoot! you painted it!" lana, also disappointed asked, "why, isn't it possible that's
what it looked like?" He laughed and said, "you're not going to believe it, but last night I had a dream and remem-
- bered standing on the fence of the stock pen as a small boy. I believe I could draw you a ‘sketch of what it looked
like." Now lana was really concemed, not only about the repainting, but a little about Sonny's memory!

Well, at this point lana chose to repaint and accept Sonny's vision with a footnote. Not two weeks later, Sonny

_returned with proof positive. He had found an old photo of two boxcars on the railroad at Belle Plaine. He had

enlarged the photo several times and yes, the stock pen was authentically reproduced! lana has great respect for her
resources,
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The Belle Plaine depot was an important gathering place for moving people and cargo. The train was known to
many as the "Flyer," stopping only if there were passengers. President Taft came through Belle Plaine via the
“Flyer" in 1911. Franklin Delano Roosevelt came through Belle Plaine early on August 8, 1934; this was called his
"Whistle-Stop" campaign! The depot was destroyed by fire in1901 when struck by lightning,

Now move to the top of the hill above the depot and you will be look-
ing south on north Meridian Street. The home there was the Weibeler
home owned by Gerhard and Mary Weibeler. The home was known to be
large enough for funeral wakes and was a place where transients could re-
ceive a meal for tasks such as chopping wood or hauling coal.

Above the double back door, the racing buckboard wagon is being driven by Robert E. Devine. He introduced
the first team of horses to the area and the first dray service; he was known for his great ability to break wild horses
His dray service delivered people and their belongings to new homesteads,

The mural time frame allowed several years to choose from with continually changing businesses. This permitted
selecting one business for each building street location. If Pavilion Place was to be painted in the mural today, it
would have been where you see the top of the Trimble and Weiss Lumberyard. Many sawmills and lumberyards
were located in Belle Plaine, as well as brickyards, due to steady growth.

MERIDIAN STREET IN THE 1800's’

The painted buildings on Meridian Street remain closely identified to existing buildings you would have seen in
the 1870's. In the founding days, Judge Chatfield plotted out lots, sections and all street names. Although the
people of Belle Plaine have since added more streets and street names, the street in the mural was originally named
Meridian Street and, as most other streets, has not been renamed. The first street that crosses Meridian was named
Pearl Street. Later, with the location of two churches located on the east and west end, it is now referred to as
Church Street. To the west is the Trinity Lutheran Church, built in 1891, A new building has since replaced this
structure, a block west of the original location. However, the original bells remain in a new tower.

As you move along, the one-room school house was later moved and a foundation basement was added at that
time. In 1903 a new parsonage was built. The comerstone was laid for the Lutheran Home for the Aged and
Orphans in 1898, it is 100 years old! A grove and a large ravine, that once partitioned Belle Plaine downtown from
the country, has been filled and currently houses buildings such as the Fenske/Hayes Funeral Home and Mortuary
(outside to the rear of the Pavilion Place).

On the west side of Meridian Street you see businesses such as Bill O'Brien's Bucket of Blood Saloon, Arndt
Shoes, the Meisinger Saloon, Brombach and Blan Meats. Notice the detail in the daily menu attached to the front
wall of O'Brien's Bucket of Blood saloon. It shows prices of daily meals, such as a steak plate for twenty cents. It
was probably harder for folks in those days to come up with twenty cents than it is for us to come up with $20 today.
Whitlock Lumber was owned by F.J. Whitlock, an associate judge and colleague of Judge Chatfields's. Mr. Whitlock
also built two homes that today still exist on Main Street directly south of the lumberyard.

The Whitlock Lumber building was sold to a new owner who had an implement shop there for several years.
When the Hoelz Feed Mill burned down they moved their business directly into this building. Currently, Homer
Hoelz's son-in-law, Richard "Dick” Schmit, manages Prairie Farm Supply in that location. Next you see the Logelin
Barbershop, Peter Hahn's Saloon, and Laura Phieffer's Dress Millinery. The Weibeler building once housed the
Dakota House and Matt Hahn's Billiard Room. Changes to note here are the comer entrance opening onto the
existing alley. Next is the State Bank of Belle Plaine which moved in 1912, It was remodeled and expanded several
times in the 52 years of operation on Meridian Street. It is now located back on Main Street where the Gates-
Schoell-Johnson home was located.

The Weibeler General Merchandise Store on the comer of Main and Meridian Streets, owned by William and
Katherine Weibeler, was not only an important piece of Belle Plaine business history but housed their eleven
children in seven upstaits bedrooms. The apartment had a two-story attached kitchen entrance. ‘The Wiebeler
building was the first to receive indoor plumbing and the upstairs Theater Hall welcomed the community to local
talent and traveling minstrel shows.

-3




The Presbyterian church was built in 1870 of Kasota stone from the St. Lawrence Quarry at a cost of $8,000.

The steeple was removed in 1924, but in 1970 a chime system was purchased that tolled throughout the commumty
. and still tolls today on the half hour,

The beautiful Victorian home, owned by Gates, then Schoell, and subsequently by Johnson had four porches and
a high wrought-iron fence. John Schoell was a prominent businessman in Belle Plaine. He and his father, George,
had a pharmacy on Main Street. He was treasurer of the School Board for many years and fire chief for two terms.
He was president of the first telephone company in Belle Plaine, and many other organizations. He was said to have
one of the largest funerals in Belle Plaine's history due to his many acquaintances and wise business sense. The
French-built home owned by McDevitts remains close in stature today. The new public school built in 1897, on
Market Street, graduated its first class in 1906, with a class size of three including Harry Irwin, Mabel Hill and
Mayme Cullen. It wasrazed, then rebuilt in the 1960's as a junior high school. Today it houses the Performing Arts
Center.

In the background you see the first water tower built in 1906. It serviced 10 blocks of water main hydrants and
was built at the end of this historic time period at a cost of $7,200. Its site was not far from the first water pump
located at the intersection of Main and Meridian Streets which was built at the beginning of the 1870 time frame.

The tall square structure, quite a monstrosity, with advertising at the bottom and a windmill at the‘ top was
lovingly referred to as the "Giraffe." This was due to the long neck-like tallness of the building. It stood 12-foot
square, 40 feet at its top, but it was 54 feet to the top windmill itself. It was built, including a well, at a cost of $500.

~ The Hahn's Store cupola no longer exists; the original building, erected in 1904, burned. The Bailey Cash Store
on the southeast section of the down town was later relocated.

St. John's Lutheran church was rebuilt in 1911 with double steeples; the previous church burned. This was the

first complete building in town built with yellow brick from the Becker Brickyard. The original church of 1878 was
severely damaged by a storm.

Unfortunately the perspective does not allow viewers to see the many businesses located on east and west Main
Street. The Belle Plaine Hotel once created an "L" shape. The "L" was in back of the buildings on the southeast
portion of the block which included a stable, dining hall and saloon.

The Nuebeiser Hardware Store, now known as the Golden Touch Jewelry, became a three-story building in
which the Knights of Columbus added the third story for a hall. While the Belle Plaine Hotel was once a three-story
building, and through the years endured several fires, it was destroyed and rebuilt in 1912, Currently it is a two-story
building.

Another bank, the 1st National was built in Belle Plaine. It was owned by a Minneapolis firm and was later sold
to the State Bank of Belle Plaine. Surprisingly the structure was built wedged between two buildings and used a
common wall. Interestingly the safe remains in the building to date as it cannot be removed due to weight and age
of floor, without lifting it out of the roof or blasting through from another building. The Sullivan Saloon and the
Palace Saloon were two businesses in the Halinon building, with a corner entrance---just as the Dakota house across
the street. This tells us that the alley was more readily used as a passageway.

Sammy Kahn was one of the few Jewish businessmen in Belle Plaine. An entrepeneur,
Sammy moved about a lot; he presumably had a grocery store in LeSueur as well. Amus-
ingly we hear that Mr. Kahn's cat had residence on the cracker barrel and to purchase
crackers may have meant pushing the cat from her perch! Rumor indicated that in order
to serve his country patrons, he often drove a mule-drawn cart filled with everyday staple
items.

The Becker Furniture, Bon-Ton Cafe and the Bauman buildings were created from views of old photos. A lot
has not been learned about the busmesses themselves as records are sketchy.

At the end of the block is the Stratton building. If youlook close, you can still make out the faint letters painted
in the brick. Originally the building was divided into two stores. Around 1912-13, Mr. Hall started a chain of 13
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hardware supply stores, later referred to as "Our Own Hardware." One was located in New Ulm and another here in
Belle Plaine. When Bill Steffen bought the Johnson, Diers & Voight Hardware located across Church Street, he took
over the chain, and today is considered an original charter member. Interestingly enough the Steffen Hardware
currently uses the two buildings. (Diers & Voight, and CM Hoopers) which we see here as one store today. Steffen's,
as we know it today, is not all that large; I can only imagine these two stores might have seemed very narrow.

The church, seen off in the far eastern corner is that of the Sacred Heart Irish Catholic Church. It was built in
1874 when Father Thomas Kennedy was monsignor, Note the charming parish house located in the center of the
block, with all it's gingerbread trim. This house was moved to the south end of the block and a new three and one-
half story rectory was built. The brick structure remains teday. Incidently, this is nearthe location of Judge Chatfield's
first log home.

The space where we see the conversation on the bench, is now filled with "the golden rule" building which was
not built until 1929 (several years after the mural time frame). However, you can see a part of a stable, later Moody's
produce market on the southeast portion of the block,

The Majestic Theatre was built by Widmer Cement. Even though the building does not seem as orate as many
of the brick buildings in town, the interesting part of this theatre is the open foyer, It seems odd that a Minnesota
built building would have been designed without window shelter for all our weather conditions. Pleasenotice a few
of the billings advertised on the inside. Marking some events of January 1915, were the "Jolly 3-O," an acrobatic trio
starring Sappie Weiss, Christ Albrecht and Leo Albrecht, and some local Circus Talent. Also, the BP Drama Club
presented Joe Ruggles and a film entitled, "The Prisoner of Zenda."

The two houses on the end of this block, were both found on the fire maps of
1909. The Schultz house was another spot where an actual photo of the original
home could not be found, but from the help of the Loren and Shirley Stier fam-
ily, relatives of the original homeowners, this mission was accomplished. They
found a drawing by William Schultz, sketched on the inside cbver of an old geo-
graphy book, located in the attic of the house before it was torn down for the
bulldmg of the 1998 Post Office. All the details from the window panes, down to the style of porch posts, and even
the well-remembered crank doorbell on the double-door entrance was reclaimed,

The first catholic church of Belle Plaine was built in 1860, It was built on the Sacred Heart site. It was a small
structure 42 x 28 feet, dedicated as St. Martin's at a cost of $1,000. References to even earlier churches are men-
tioned. The brick structure was not yet completed when it collapsed in a heavy wind and rainstorm, Some people
felt that because money had been raised for the church by dances and such, the source of the money was not
wholesome---hence its destruction.

The new church of brick, now 60 x 32 x 24 feet high was rebuilt in 1871. It was named St. Peter and Paul's
Church and was built to face west. As you can see this church, although not built substantially, served its purpose for
more than 30 years. The newly built church of 1904 is now facing south on the same block! Please note the
charming brick parish house that remains in its entirety, as well as the parochial school.

The larger house on the next block belonged to the Grosser family. Mr. Grosser ran an early horse-drawn bus
service hauling guests to hotels from the depot. In the distance you can see the historic Episcopal Church of the
Transfiguration. The seed for this church to be planted was through a visit at the home of Judge Chatfield in 1854,
Lots were pledged to this beautiful church referred to as "The White Dove" on the beautiful priairie. Through much
frustration and anxiety felt by the parish without clergy, the want for church services remained. The present church
structure was built in 1868, at a cost of $3,500. The closing of this church in 1950, marked the demise of the parish
after more than 100 years since its beginning. It has since been restored and serves as an historical marker. It is here
that many of our early settlers are buried including Judge Chatfield.

Another historical marker in Belle Plaine is the Hooper-Bowler-Hillstrom house. It was originally built in 1871,
and was owned by Commodore Sanford and Mary (Harris) Hooper. Mr. Hooper, a "flamboyant” man, owned several
businesses throughout his lifetime. He was known to be overly generous and gained and lost a great deal of money
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through the years. Mrs. Hooper, a sister to a New York govenor's wife, went to New York to get funding to build the
Episcopal church. The Hoopers loved to entertain. The Hoopers had several children in this home.,

They sold the house to Sam and Mary (Schmitt) Bowler in 1886. Mr, Bowler was a dignified businessman who
owned a lumberyard and was instrumental in the beginning of the First State Bank of Belle Plaine. His wife, Mary,
was the daughter of Chris Schmitt, owner of the Schmitt Brewery in Belle Plaine. She sold Singer sewing machines
prior to her marriage to Sam, or so it is said.

The Bowlers had 10 children, and were known to have édded aroom with each new child! They had a two-story
outhouse, referred to as an "Engineering Wonder." The second story was connected via a short bridge with trellis
walls. The City of Belle Plaine now owns the house and grounds.

Alfred and Mathilda (Melborg) Hillstrom, from East Union, moved into the house in 1901. He owned the White
Lily Flour Mill, as we saw earlier in the mural. Mathilda was noted for her helping hands in any organization. She
also attended the Episcopal church.

The Barn, located in the southwest corner of the block at that time, had one cow. A large vegetable garden, a
berry patch and a tree filled the lot north of the house.

If we were to follow perspectively east on Main Street from the Main/Meridian intersection, we would cross
what is now Highway 169 (which did not exist in the mural time frame). If we continue to follow County Road 64
east of town, at the bottom of the steep hill, we would find an original Cambellite church of the 1880's, called Mount
Moriah, The parish members of this very old structure were once baptized in the creek, referred to as Brewery
Creek. 4

At the top of the hill we see a tall tree standing alone. It could be seen clearly
five miles from downtown Belle Plaine. The tree was referred to as the "Bowler
Lone Tree" and was used by early firefighters as a landmark to distinguish location
of fires. The tree was struck by lightning in 1924,

Tucked into the hillside you can barely make out the view of the house and
bamn of the late George Taylor. Mr. Taylor is a direct descendent of the George Taylor who possibly signed The U.S.
Declaration of Independence in 1776. It was said that Lester, youngest son of seven children and son of Ira George,
walked from Indiana to Belle Plaine, Minnesota, at the age of 11 to drive the livestock to their new homestead.

In the foreground, is a vision of the yearly event known to many as threshing, To some this was more exciting
than Christmas! "Threshing day made Christmas day and all the other days possible!"

Communities formed threshing rings. One farmer with more capital or credit than the rest would invest $2,000:
$2,500 in a steam engine and separator and go from farm to farm to thresh the wheat, oats, barley and rye for three
to six cents a bushel. Neighbors helped each other pitch, haul and scoop on threshing day---no favors asked no
records kept---it was the way of lifel

Coming back down the hill from Belle Plaine toward the east end of the tracks, Brewery Creek finds its way to
the river. We find the Schmitt Brewery built near the tracks at a cost of $5,000. The brewery had a capacity of 10
barrels a day and was owned by Father Christ Schmitt and son, Matthias Schmitt.

Crossing the tracks looking northeast again was an unusual arrangement to serve as a sawmill. Mr. George Sly
lived on what we now know as the old "Buszmann Farm" in the early 1860's. He builta sawmill in the side of a small
hiliside directly midway between the woods and the river,

In 1867, the tracks connecting Jordan and Belle Plaine came to pass. This raised great inconvenience for the
sawmill as the tracks passed between the sawmill and the woods, The sawmill was built in what was soon to look

like a second story, and in order to get the logs from the woods to the sawmill, a bridge or "shoot" type of creation
was invented.
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An article written by J.E, Townsend tells us exactly how it looked, but not exactly how it operated. The late
1870's noted the end of this quaint sawmill. The mill's short-term existence was probably due to the inconvenience
of having to post a guard by the log bridge to swing it open and shut with each passing train. This sawmill scene
closes the fall season with a hint of frost.

Back to the Bridge where the Mural Began
(comments by the muralist)

The bridge and river in the northwest comer began as spring---a fresh and new beginning. After crossing the
rear entrance the shadows and elements suggest a summer sun with open screen doors and flies bothering the horses.
Looking to the east an early autumn harvest and colored hillside seemed to come about and finally, mural scenes
fade back to the river where an early frost suggest the coming winter season. Back in the northwest corner, after 10
months of painting the artist extended the river along the north wall---lt was the bridge which connected what was an
early spring to magical winter scenes.

The Pavilion Place is a gathering place. It brings people together to celebrate special events and common bonds.
It was an artist's vision and hope that the mural could somehow connect each and every person to a little piece of
history they can take home with them. During the mural's 1870-1917 time frame social gatherings and common
bonds between friends and neighbors were often formed through church affiliations. It was my hope to somehow
include those churches that blessed many of our Belle Plaine folk and country communities as well. A wintery
collage of sorts was added to the north wall to show the beauty of the season and portray evidence of a faith that

made our ancestors so strong as portrayed by area country churches.

The Wintery North Wall
The first of many churches you see is the Jessenland Irish Catholic, a little white church, located on county road
six between Blakeley and Henderson. Recently the parish celebrated 140 years of worship as a congregation. Notice
the unique cemetery on the hill behind the little church. Going east on county road six and up Purington Hill, you see
St. John's-Assumption church, also a Catholic sect, with its rich red brick and arched windows. Looking east, the
communities of West and East Union are native to many of our Belle Plaine families. '

East Union also celebrated 140 years as the Dakota Treaty marked both the opening of the Minnesota Territory
and the beginning of a steady stream of immigrants eager to start a new life. Early settlers in the East Union area
were predominantly Swedish. They were driven from their homeland by poor living conditions and hunger. A large
number of people who had settled to the west of the settlement voiced their desire for a separate church. Thus 1858,
marked the year of the establishment of both East and West Union Lutheran churches, being served by the same
minister. The East Union brick structure of 1866, as depicted in the mural, replaced an original log building. The
West Union church depicts the original wooden structure with wooden blinds on the windows.

Ice harvesting was a winter event that proved very important. .On
sweltering mid-summer days the ice wagon rumbled by with frozen ware.
Certain privileged homes received the blocks sawed from the Minne-
sota river in winter,

To the southeast of Belle Plaine, along what is now referred to as Highway 19, an important hill with several
faithful settlers began in 1857. On the top of Union Hill rests St. John's Catholic church with many panshloners still
very active today.

St. Thomas, established in the late 1850's, has historical interest. The present Catholic church dates from 1883.

It was built by Father Cauley, the first resident pastor who also built the parish house. A source noted the good
people of St. Thomas "a sturdy lot," often walked to Belle Plaine stores and carried eggs, etcetera to barter.

What is now known as Evangelical Lutheran Church of the Redeemer, began with the first German settlers to
this area in 1855. The community was then called the "Big Woods" in which tribes of Indians lived and roamed. The
first log church was built in 1857, Since Friedrich Nagel was one of the deacons, it was agreed to call the church by
his first name---Evangelical Transfiguration Friedrich Church.
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Pastor Henry Braun, who later served the congregation, endeavored to have the name of the church changed but
without success. In 1872, a new brick church was built at a cost of $3,000; members contributed sums of $25, $50,
$100 and $200. These were large sums in those days. The church services were conducted equally in English and
German, The name of the church was changed later to its present name. The church as you see it in the mural burned
in 1950. It has since been rebuilt and is still very active.

**Note: The artist prefers her name to appear in lower case letters.

OUTDATED MEDICAL TERMINOLOGY'
Over time, many disease names have changed. Below is a partial
list of some old terms you may have heard or have read from time to
time.
Qutdated Term Current Term
Apoplexy Stroke
Bad blood Syphilis
Blood poisoning Septicemia (overwhelming
bacterial infection)
Bright's disease Glomerulonephritis (serious
kidney disease)
Consumption Tuberculosis, pulmonary
Cretinism Hypothyroidism, congenital
Dropsy Congestive heart failure
Fatty liver , Cirrhosis
Glandular fever Mononucleosis
Grippe Influenza (flu) epidemic in 1918
Jail fever Typhus
Lock jaw Tetanus
Lung sickness Tuberculosis
-Plague/Black death Bubonic plague
Podagra Gout
Pott's disease Tuberculosis of the spinal
vertebrae
Quinsy Streptococcal tonsillitis
Scrofula Tuberculosis of the neck
lymph nodes
Toxemia of pregnancy  Eclampsia (high blood pressure.
and seizures)
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10.
11
12.
13.
14.
15.
16.
17.

18.

19,

BELLE PLAINE MURAL AREA PIONEERS & ENTREPRENEURS

*Captain Louis Robert

(1870 - TO PRESENT)

GROVE STREET BRIDGE CORNER

....................... First French fur trader to the area. He owned many trading posts
along the Minnesota river. Roberts Creek and Robert Street in St.
Paul were named in his honor. v

*John Anthony Schoell...........c........ Schoell Pharmacy owner, was fire chief for two terms, on the

school board and started the Belle Plaine (BP) Telephone Company.

*Samuel Bowler.........oovcvvviennciininennne He was one of BP's earliest settlers. He was a local businessman

instrumental in beginning the First State Bank of BP and lived in
the Hooper-Bowler-Hillstrom house. The house is now on the
Historical Registry).

*Dorliska F. Whittlock........cceoeevinns She worked in the State Bank of BP and started the first public

library in BP and Scott County.

*Julius S. Effertz......cccccovivcniiinn, He was an early State Bank of BP president.

*Walter J. Gatz...........

....................... He was an early State Bank of BP president, on the school board for
25 years and a fire department treasurer.

*Maurice M, Gaffney........ccceevnnnnn. He was an early State Bank of BP president and founded the BP
Development Corporation.

*Joseph Ronald Effertz................c...... Son of Julius S, Effertz and former Vice President of the State
Bank of Belle Plaine

Kevin G, Gaffney........cc.cocevverieneene State Bank of BP president for many years. Son of Maurice
Gaffney.

*Fred Latzke.......ccocvevninincnniinnn, Whij[e Lily Flour miller and second owner of the White Lily Flour

: Mill,

*Alfred Fremont Hillstrom................. White Lily Flour Owner. Lived in the Historic-Hooper-Bowler-
Hillstrom house.

*Mathilda (Melberg) Hillstrom.......... Wife of Alfred Hillstrom; she was active in several civic

: organizations.

Charles "Edward" Townsend.............. Grandson of .E. Townsend, council member, and current editor of
BP Herald.

*Daniel Charles Townsend................ Son of J.E. Townsend and editor of BP Herald.

*Joseph Edward Townsend................. BP Herald owner and first editor, town clerk for 36 years.

*Mary (Harris) HOOPET.......covevienineens Wife of Sanford Hooper, she helped get funding from New York
state for the Episcopal Church.

*Commodore Sanford Hooper............ Mayor, judge, owned a machine shop and foundry. Lived in the
[historic] Hooper-Bowler-Hillstrom house. ‘

*Friend J, Whitlock........ccccoevvnrinennne. Whitlock Lumber owner, mayor, Borough attorney, councilman,

, : Justice of the Peace, school board president, fire chief and an

associate of Judge Chatfield.

*Frank Chatfield Irwin....................... First person born in BP (descendant of Judge Chatfield). He was a

mayor, lawyer and fire chief.
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20.
21,

22,

23,
24,

25.
26.

27.
28.
29.

30.
3L

32,
33

34,
35.
36.
37
38.
39.
40.
41.

42,
43,

44,
45,
46.
47,
48,
49,

- 50,

*.Ellen "Nellie" E. (Rosenberg) Irwin.

*William Hubert Weibeler.................

*Frank "Shorty" Albrecht...................
*Reinold Wayne Ediger.....................

Joseph J. Fahey, St........ccovvvvvnenennen. "
Ellis JOhNSON.........ccveeeeevereeiceesenrennan,

Dotty (Twogood)Johnson ..................
Leo (Sonny) J. Albrecht.............c.......

¥Leo M. Albrecht, St......cocvvevvvveeennne

. *Harold Anthony Albrech.................

*Fred J. Keup, St

Descendant of Judge Chatfield. Lived to age of 104. A gas

explosion blew her house up on' Main Street.

Mayor, Weibeler store owner, he was an important well-known
businessman in BP,

Wife of William Weibeler, mother of eleven children; they lived
above the Weibeler store at the corner of Main and Meridian
Streets.

Married Hannah Kennedy, 1854. He was a long-time area doctor of
medicine. .

Wife of Gerhard Weibeler; well-known as a generous woman of the
community as well as with the St.Peter and Paul's church,

Owner of Weibeler home on Depot Hill; son of Wm. H. Weibeler,
Introduced first "team" of horses to the area; he ran the first drey
service and "broke" wild horses for "Shorty" Albrecht.

He worked with Wayne Ediger, auctioneer, and "Curly" Mueller,
Mayor.

He was a widely-known horse trader and cattle buyer, sales com-
missioner and community auctioneer.

Col./Auctioneer, BP Commission Company and raised

charolais cattle.

Auctioneer, real estate broker, farmer and BP native.

BP Commission Company, horse trader, licensed horse judge and
radio announcer.

Dotty's Cafe owner, long-time area school teacher and bookkeeper.
Councilman, author, fire chief, BP historian and circus owner. BP
historical mural adviser.

Vaudeville acrobat, wood carver, circus owner, artist, author and
performer.

BP Historian, english teacher, author, piano teacher, graduate of
McPhail School of Music.

Mayor, Minnesota Baseball Hall of Fame member, and councilman.

*Dr. Herman M. Juergens, MD........... Long-time doctor who delivered many area babies; he later donated

*Clarence "Curly" F. Mueller .............
Roger C. Mueller...........cccoeivvereninnn,

*Henry Brombach......... ereresrre e rres

*¥Peter BlaU.....cococvvevvvieeeieeeecevieinenn

*"Judge" Andrew Gould Chatfield.....
(photo as a young man)
*Michael James Daly, Sr...................

his residence for use as the BP library (currently used by the BP
Council chambers, other boards and committies).

Son of Fred, Sr., co-owner Keup Motor's Inc. and vehicle sales
man,; he was also a KC Grand Knight. ‘

Son of Fred, Sr., Councilman, BBQ chairman, chamber member,
and fire chief. ‘
Donated her farmland (1868), plus $4,500 in an endowment fund to
build the first Lutheran Home for the Aged and Orphans.

Son of F.J., or "Ed" Sass. Rotary, Chamber of Commerce,
Planning and Zonning member, and businessman,

Mayor for 16 terms, Mueller Construction Company owner,

Son of Clarence "Curly" Mueller and Mueller Construction Com-
pany owner.

Son of Wm. Brombach and Brombach & Blau Meats co-owner.
He was known for his generosity.

Partner of Brombach & Blau Meats.” Known to be kind and
personable,

Hoeltz Feed Mill owner.

Co-owner of Prairie Farm Supply and counc11man

Wife of Judge Chatfield and first postmistress.

BP Founder, judge, started/organized BP Corporation, developer;
also founded Chatfield, Minnesota. .
Lawyer, Scott County Attorney, President of the PTA., Delegate

. to the National Democratic Convention.
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51.

52.
53.

54.

55.-

56.
57.

58.
59.
60.
61.
62.
63,
64.
65.
66.
67.

68.
69.

70,
71.
72.
73.
74.
75.
76.
77.
78.
79.
80.
81.
82.

83.

Orville Albert Heitkamp.....................

*Gerald "Jerry" C. Miller.......ccovie.e.
*Fred Heiland..........ococvevveennivnnnnnnnn,

*Thomas Flynn........ccocooeievviincrenienn

*Alfred Joseph Albrecht.................
*Elizabeth (Sweetser) Albrecht..........

*Everett Arther Edberg..........c.c..oe..
Harold Everett Edberg...........c.ccoeven.
*W. Elwin Bromaghim......................
*'Doc" Walter Carr Bromaghim........
Orison Garfield Hahn.............ccooeve.nn
* Arthur "Art" Adolf Hahn..................
Patrick J, Fogarty.....c...c.covevveriiiinnnnnnns
Richard "Dick" A. Peterson................
Gerald "Jerry" J. Meyer........coovennnan,
Pat Bruder.........oocvvvverincennecninneneenns

Roy Henderson...........ccceeververnennnes o

Historical photographer, science/biology teacher,artisan and wild-
life wood carver.

Long-time BP High School coach and biology teacher.

Historical photographer, councilman, creamery owner and a state
Champion Butter Maker.

Industrial arts instructor, BBQ chairman, chamber member, Scott
County Fair Board and Economic Development Authority (EDA)
member.

Popular BPHS coach of football, baseball and basketball. Came to
BPin 1927.

Belle Plaine fire chief,

English teacher, philanthropist, American Legion Auxiliary mem-
ber, church organist (OLP),and first council woman (1971-75).
Finish carpenter, builder of many BP area homes.

Son of Everett, mayor, BP Council and Chamber member.
Fireman, mason, early BP electrician; wired many rural farms.
Area veterinarian (DVM) with degree from Univ. of Minnesota.
Son of Art Hahn and Hahn's Store owner.

Father of Orison, subsequent Hahn's Store owner.

SOUTH WALL
Long-time Street Commissioner, City Clerk and KC
member.
Elementary teacher, ass't. football/baseball coach
and councilman.
Mayor, author of BBQ medalion clues, instrumental in
bringing E-H to BP and inducted to baseball Hall of fame,
BPHS geography and history teacher; includes history of
community buildings. ’
Teacher in BP for 32 years and football coach.

Josephine "Josie" (Tupy) Ploeta.......... Wife of John Ploetz, New local library advocate and Queen

John Edwin Ploetz...........ccceeeveeennnnn
Henrietta (Hillstrom) Lucille Stiles....

Frances "Fran" Ruth Schuman............
Rev. Robert Schlicht.........ccoovirvevrennns

of the Peace auxiliary member.

Mayor, Chamber member, and John Ploetz Insurance Agency
owner.

Historical Society member, reading tutor, Hooper-Bowler-
Hillstrom granddaughter.

Mayor, Justice of the Peace, and second Council woman.
Pastor Trinity Lutheran Church, author of "Care of

the Soul,” built new Lutheran Home, Hope Center

and new church; he was a very busy entrepreneur,

*Rev P.J. Haupt....oocooovvinivvccininennns Pastor St. John's Lutheran Church, Council mem-

*Frances A. Brandel............cccccccceennne
Luella (Kessler) A. Bromaghim..........
Lee H. Smith............. SR N
Dr. Roger Bernard Hallgren...............
William Otto Koniarski................c.oe.
*Dr. Von Bohland...............cccccorvennon

*Oliver RUckS.......ccoovvveoniveeiiiieiiineeens

*Elizabeth Rucks.............covveiiiinn, .

ber.

BP Historian, gardener, and Senior Citizen's Director.
Beloved school secretary and historical collector.

Scott County Historical Director, instrumental in

obtaining Stans Museum grants (Scott County).

Long-time physician and BP native, pilot and school board
member.

Scott County Commissioner for many years, instrumental in
obtaining Bloomington Ferry Bridge.

Fire chief, Chamber member and baseball advocate.
Medical doctor direct from Germany and long-time resident.
Rucks Meats owner, church leader, philanthropist, and
community leader.

Wife of Oliver, co-owner of Rucks Meats and local
philanthropist.
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84.
85.
86.
87.
88,
89,
90.
91.
92.
93.
94,
95,
9.
97.
98,
99,
100,
101,

102.
103.

104.

105.
106.

107.
108.
109.
110.
111.
112,
113.

114,
115.
116.

117.
118,

Verdon "Don" Hennen.................... s
Gerald "Jerry" Jerome Hennen...........
Ronald "Ron" P. Hennen..........cco.evee
Alvin "Al" Henry Hennen..................
Harold E. Kruschke.........ccccoovvvveeneann
Erna M. Kruschke........c..ocooceerevinnennns
*Edward "Ed" Adolph Moody............
Robert "Bob" Edward Moody.............
Walter "Wally" Peter Witt..................
*Wilmer A. Schmidt.......c..ccevcvnneee.
Roger Delgehausen..........cccoceevevueennn,
Donald Thomas Weldon....................
*HBdward "Ed" F. Smith......................
Matt F, Hally........coocovivveiviiviinenns
*Joseph G. McRaith........ccoorveriinren.

*Katherine Fredericka Engfer.............

Hennen's Cafe and Catering owner and Rotary/Chamber member.
Hennen Furniture Store owner, and kind-hearted businessman.
Hennen Jewelry Store owner, Chamber/Rotary and Development
Board member.

Hennen's ICO gas station owner and EMT Director of Civil
Defense.

Historical Society volunteer, BP advocate, Scott County Bus
Service driver,

Wife of Harold, Historical Society volunteer, BP advocate and
Scott County Bus Service driver.

Mayor, fire chief and Produce Store owner.

Son of Ed and Scott County Sheriff,

Fire chief, KC member, Westerman Lumber Co. and Councilman.
BP Farmers Coop Creamery, and later, BP Cooperative manager,
and area farmer.

School Board member, MN National Guard Service, arts advocate,

theater director and Minnesota Regional Arts Council (MRAC)
board member.

Well-known popcom truck owner, fire chief and KC member.
Civil Service director, Scott County Veteran Service officer and
fire chief,

“Great supporter of BP committees. Library board member and
rural mail carrier.

First Grand Marshal of St. Patrick's Day, pilot and sold cars with
Dooley. He was BP's longest postmaster.

Well-known BP advocate and postal matron.

Joan (Zimny) Mary Haefner............... BP Players member, BP Historical Mural concept originator.
' Haefner Enterprises co-owner, artlsan Design/Streetscape and

Park Board member.

Simon Peter Haefner...............c......... Councilman, Haefner Enterprises/Prog. Printing/Pavilion Place
and Valley View Terrace Mobile Home Park owner. Local BP

: business enterpreneur active on many boards and committees.
Robert Stradcutter........ccccooveevcninnnen. Longtime rural postal delivery person.
Irvin Hermann.........ccoveeeennerrenennnnens One of four family members who served the BP fire department

George Walter Herrmann...................

Louis Herrmann...........ccccovevvienironnen,
*Harold Paul Herrmann.....................

Richard "Dick" M. Tillquist..............

*Fred M. Tillquist.........ccoooverrieririneens
Gilbert Frank Brenke............cooecvonenne.
*Alvin Ster.......oocevinveninireiiineenens
Walter W, Krant, Jr.....c....ccoevviiiennnnne
*Henry "Hank" Horrmann..................
Eugene "Gene" H. Hayes...................

Louis George Lieske...........cccceerirnnen.

Jennifer Hanlon........ccccovveeevevnninnennns

at the same time; they hold the record.

One of four family members who served the BP fire department
at the same time; they hold the record.

One of four family members who served the BP fire department
at the same time; they hold the record.

One of four family members who served the BP fire department
at the same time; they hold the record.

Ford garage salesman and award-winning school bus driver.
Mayor, first bus service and Ford garage owner.

Mayor and BP advocate.

Mayor and BP advocate.

Krant's Bar owner (currently Neil's Bar) and BP fire chief.

BP fire chief.

Hayes Funeral Home owner, ambulance driver and area
enterpreneut, .
Fire chief, area businessman, served on many boards including the
Lutheran Home administration.

Co-founder of Excelsior-Henderson Motorcycle Company (1995);
wife of Dave Hanlon,

Co-founder of Excelsior Henderson Motorcycle Company (1995).
Co-founder of Excelsior Henderson Motorcycle Company (1995)
BP Fire chief.
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119.  *Wilbur "Hespy" H. Hespenheide...... Managed the Texaco station and he was a Belle Plaine advocate.
120.  Terry John Gregory.........oocevnvnne «..... BP fire chief and.city advocate.
> 121, *Frank Raymond Johnson.................. Implement store owner and fire chief.
122, Warren "Bud" Baumann..................... He was son of Fred and grandson of Frank; BP Constmcﬂon owner,
long-time builder of quality homes
123, *Julius Stier....coevvviviiinir e Brother of Otto Stier, area businessman co-owners of BP Block &
Tile, Star Car Wash owner and sold cars for Fred Tillquist. .
124,  Eugene "Gene" Tikalsky.........c.oe.e.. BP Councilman and volunteer ambulance member.
125,  Esther (Kalma)lealsky ..................... BP Council woman, Design/Streetscape member and ex-ofﬁc1a1
member of other boards and committees,
126, *Otto H. Ster........cocoeeveeiivr s Original co-owner of BP Block and Tile, shared rural bus service.
127.  Loren O. Stier........ e Owner of Stier Bus Service and collector of farm-related toys. -
128.  Shirley Stier........coceovvviiiiiiinies Wife of Loren and co-owner of Stier Bus Service. ‘
129.  *Joseph Widmer........ccocoevvievrenniennn, Telephone Company and Meat Market owner. Builder, cement-
' construction, farmer, filling station and generous civic minded
, individual,
130.  *"Doc" Daniel William Wilson........ Known as one of the "kindest dentists in town;" a generous man,
131, *Carl "Bruce” Edberg..............cceveunn. General Manager of Norwesco-BP Division. A local businessman,
chamber and Development Corporation member. He was a "kind"
employer and a BP advocate.
132, *Lester Allan Tayloz..........ccceeveenne. Son of Ira George Taylor; he was a civic minded and a well—hked
person. At age 11 he walked livestock from Indiana to Minnesota.
133, LeRoy Chard........ccccooevevvevirinvrnninnns Chard Tiling and Sibley Aggregate owner; a very civic minded and
' generous person.
134,  Connie (Gerres) Chard.............cce..n.. Wife of Le Roy Chard, co-owner of Chard Tiling/Sibley Aggre-
. gate, Project Coordinator and BP Benefactor.
135.  John "Doc" Edward Fogarty............... Doctor of Veterinary Medicine.
136.  *Thomas "Tom" H. Lynch................. BP Businessman known for his kindness. A
137.  Father Richard Roedel.................... ....Clergyman known for his kindness and ecumenical way of thinking,
138.  *David Soller........corvvceerncninennnnnen Long-time custodian of public schools and friend to many students.
139.  Timothy "Tim" OLaughlin................ Original BP Ambulance EMT Coordinator and trainer-civil
_ direction.
140, Pat OLaughlin..........ccccceiriiniiviennnn, Original BP Ambulance EMT Coordinator and tra1ner-c1v11
direction.
SCHMITT BREWERY WALL
141, *Clarence F. Petter......c..occovnvrccnnnnnnn Mayor, schoolboard and council member, shoe repair and fire chief.
142, *James Stratton...........c.ceveerivnvirerinnne. Fire chief and owned Stratton block building.
143, *William "Will" Bailey......c..occocerennn. Fire chief and Bailey Store owner,
144, *Julius Seiberlich........ccocrririrevernnnan Fire Chief.
145,  *Ernst Buszmann.............ccoeeeveereennens,s Mayor.
146.  *Jake Krekelberg..........ccoccvvevieivienenne Well-known cement sidewalk mason and fire chief.
147, *Katherine "Katie" Weibeler.............. Daughter of William Weibeler; she operated the Confectionary
: following her parents death,
148, *Nic FranK........ccccovvevivnnrvereniorennnis Fire chief.
149, *Frank Weibeler......c..c.covinvivriveennns Son of William Weibeler and a fire chief., -
150.  *William Fitzgerald...............co.oo.... ... Mayor, known for adopting By-Law changes.
151,  *Peter Becker........coooevvriviceninnnnnnn, Early BP settler, brickyard and furniture store owner.
152,  *Angeline (Hanson) Schmitt.............. Wife of Christian Schmitt and co-owner of the Schmitt Brewery. -
153, *Christian Schmitt............cccovvennnenee Schmitt Brewery brewmaster.
154,  *Matthias Schmitt..........c.ocoverrerirnenn. Youngest son of Christian, brewery co-owner and brewmaster,
BLUNT-FACED CORNER WALL
155, *Judge Andrew Gould Chatfield........ He discovered the peaceful valley and later named it Belle Plaine,
(photo his later years) a French word for "Beautiful Prairie." Muralist, lana k. beck,
‘ placed Judge Chatfield on this wall so he could continue to look
*Denotes deceased at time of print. after his town."
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Thank you for visiting Pavilion Place
S and the
‘Belle Plaine Historlcal Mural (circa 1870-19177).
History is the past and the present.
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